

Heiko Giebler, Lukas Antoine, Rasmus Ollroge, Jürgen Gerhards, Michael Zürn, Johannes Giesecke, and Macartan Humphreys

The "Public Attitudes towards the Liberal Script" (PALS) Survey. Conceptual Framework, Implementation, and Data

SCRIPTS Working Paper No. 33



CLUSTER OF EXCELLENCE "CONTESTATIONS OF THE LIBERAL SCRIPT (SCRIPTS)"

SCRIPTS analyzes the contemporary controversies about liberal order from a historical, global, and comparative perspective. It connects academic expertise in the social sciences and area studies, collaborates with research institutions in all world regions, and maintains cooperative ties with major political, cultural, and social institutions. Operating since 2019 and funded by the German Research Foundation (DFG), the SCRIPTS Cluster of Excellence unites eight major Berlin-based research institutions: Freie Universität Berlin, the Humboldt-Universität zu Berlin, the Berlin Social Science Center (WZB), as well as the Hertie School, the German Institute for Economic Research (DIW), the Berlin branch of the German Institute of Global and Area Studies (GIGA), the Centre for East European and International Studies (ZOiS), and the Leibniz-Zentrum Moderner Orient (ZMO).

SCRIPTS WORKING PAPER SERIES

The SCRIPTS Working Paper Series serves to disseminate the research results of work in progress prior to publication to encourage the exchange of ideas, enrich the discussion and generate further feedback. All SCRIPTS Working Papers are available on the SCRIPTS website at www.scripts-berlin.eu and can be ordered in print via email to office@scripts-berlin.eu.

Series-Editing and Production: Dr. Anke Draude, Jörn Ziegler, Isabela De Sá Galvão, and Carol Switzer

Please cite this issue as: Giebler, Heiko / Antoine, Lukas / Ollroge, Rasmus / Gerhards, Jürgen / Zürn, Michael / Giesecke, Johannes / Humphreys, Macartan 2023: The "Public Attitudes towards the Liberal Script" (PALS) Survey. Conceptional Framework, Implementation, and Data, SCRIPTS Working Paper No. 33, Berlin: Cluster of Excellence 2055 "Contestations of the Liberal Script (SCRIPTS)".

Cluster of Excellence "Contestations of the Liberal Script (SCRIPTS)" Freie Universität Berlin Edwin-Redslob-Straße 29 14195 Berlin Germany

+49 30 838 58502 office@scripts-berlin.eu

www.scripts-berlin.eu Twitter: @scriptsberlin



CONTENTS

Authors

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Abstract

Introduction	5
Conceptual approach and content of the questionnaire	7
Implementation	12
Country selection, sampling, and mode	12
Questionnaire design, pre-testing, and fieldwork	14
Description of the dataset	17
Number of observations and quota fulfillment	17
Variables	17
Coding of missing values	17
Weights	19
Data access	20
	Conceptual approach and content of the questionnaire Implementation Country selection, sampling, and mode Questionnaire design, pre-testing, and fieldwork Description of the dataset Number of observations and quota fulfillment Variables Coding of missing values Weights

References

Appendix I: Master questionnaire

Appendix II: Country Selection

AUTHORS



Heiko Giebler is the Head of the Research Group "Comparative Survey", which conducted the survey "Public Attitudes towards the Liberal Scripts" (PALS), at the Cluster of Excellence "Contestations of the Liberal Script" (SCRIPTS). He is also the Head of the Data and Methodology Center (DMC) of SCRIPTS. He earned a doctoral degree in political science from Humboldt-Universität zu Berlin. His work focuses on political behaviour, democratic institutions, populism, and research methods.



Lukas Antoine is a doctoral researcher in the Research Group "Comparative Survey" at SCRIPTS. He holds an MA in Political Science from Freie Universität Berlin, and a BA in Political Science from Universität Bremen. His research interests include attitude and survey research as well as surveillance, privacy, and security studies.

lukas.antoine@fu-berlin.de



Rasmus Ollroge is a doctoral researcher in the Research Group "Comparative Survey" SCRIPTS. He holds an MA in Sociology from Freie Universität Berlin and a BA in Political Science from Georg-August-Universität Göttingen. His research interests include the globalisation divide, cleavage theory, and survey research.

r.ollroge@fu-berlin.de

h.giebler@fu-berlin.de



Michael Zürn is Director at WZB Berlin Social Science Center and Professor of International Relations at the Freie Universität Berlin. Since 2019, he is director of the Cluster of Excellence "Contestations of the Liberal Script - SCRIPTS", funded by the German Research Foundation, together with Prof. Dr. Tanja Börzel, as well as leader of the DFG research group "Overlapping Spheres of Authority and Interface Conflicts in the Global Order" (OSAIC). He is a member of the Berlin-Brandenburgische Akademie der Wissenschaften and the Academia Europeana. His work focuses on the emergence and functioning of inter- and supranational institutions and organizations as well as on their impact on the global political order.

Jürgen Gerhards is a Professor Emeritus of Sociology at Freie Universität Berlin and a Senior Professor in the Research Unit "Borders" at SCRIPTS. He is a member of the Nationale Akademie der Wissenschaften Leopoldina and the Berlin-Brandenburgische Akademie der Wissenschaften. His research interests include comparative cultural sociology, European studies, and the sociology of the public sphere.

j.gerhards@fu-berlin.de



Johannes Giesecke is Professor for Empirical Social Research at Humboldt-University Berlin. He is member of the Research Unit "Re-Allocation" at SCRIPTS. His research interests include social inequality, labor market sociology, and quantitative methods.

johannes.giesecke@hu-berlin.de

michael.zuern@wzb.eu



Macartan Humphreys is director of the Institutions and Political Inequality group at the WZB Berlin Social Science Center. He research focuses on the political economy of development, ethnic politics, and democratic decision-making in post-conflict and developing areas. He holds honorary professorships in social sciences at Trinity College Dublin and Humboldt University Berlin.

macartan.humphreys@wzb.eu

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The authors would like to thank Ade Ajayi, Anna Kamenskikh, and Ana Karalashvili for their excellent research assistance as well as the additional members of the Academic Council Marianne Braig and Slava Jankin for their advice and input. In addition, we are grateful to Nicolás Alvarez, Priscilla Atiku, Kevin Axe, Katharina Bluhm, Yusuf Baba Gar, Ewa Dabrowska, Nieves Fernández Rodríguez, Paulina García Corral, Olga Gasparyan, Andreas Hofmann, Maximiliano Jara, Allison Koh, Alexandre Lange, Binda Noella Niati, Álvaro Morcillo, Isaac Osei-Akoto, Abiola Oyebanjo, Alex Paulin-Booth, Amit Prakash, Nathalie Raunet, Shoko Tanaka, İpek Taştepe, Ana Werkstetter Caravaca, and Mikhail Zabotkin for their support in reviewing the translations.

The "Public Attitudes towards the Liberal Script" (PALS) Survey. Conceptual Framework, Implementation, and Data

Heiko Giebler, Lukas Antoine, Rasmus Ollroge, Jürgen Gerhards, Michael Zürn, Johannes Giesecke, and Macartan Humphreys

ABSTRACT

The norms and institutions of liberal democracy, market economy, and open society have become increasingly contested worldwide. Is the rise of illiberal and authoritarian contestations reflected in a decline of citizens' acceptance of liberal ideas and values? Are these contestations a response to unfulfilled promises, inherent tensions, or other unresolved challenges? The comparative public opinion survey "Public Attitudes towards the Liberal Script" (PALS) provides data that lets scholars address these questions.

The goal of PALS is first and foremost to measure attitudes towards what we call the liberal script. PALS was conducted in 26 countries (+50,000 respondents) using CAWI (quota sampling) and CAPI (random probability sampling) modes of data collection. The sample draws from a diverse set of countries to provide a global perspective. Here, we give a comprehensive description of the conceptual framework, content, and methodology of the survey as a background paper for the overall endeavor.

1 INTRODUCTION

When the Soviet Union collapsed in the early 1990s, many scholars and politicians believed it was the definitive victory of the liberal model for organising societies. The American political scientist Francis Fukuyama (1992) argued that not only a new stage of social development would begin, but history had come to its end, as liberal democracy would prevail all over the world. More than thirty years later, we know that things turned out differently. The liberal model is by no means uncontroversial and is subject to multiple challenges. Some liberal democracies, such as Hungary, Poland, and India, to name just a few, have moved in more authoritarian directions, while others are internally challenged by rightwing populist movements and parties that challenge liberal principles. Russia's war of aggression against Ukraine has demonstrated how little international law based on liberal principles is respected by a major superpower. The recapturing of power by the Taliban in Afghanistan and the withdrawal of Western troops can be seen as a failure to institutionalise democracy and liberal values, including equal rights for women by outsiders. Criticism also comes from voices in the Global South who criticize liberalism as an ideology that has legitimised and continues to legitimise domination and exploitation.

The Cluster of Excellence "Contestations of the Liberal Script (SCRIPTS)" analyses reasons for why the liberal model has fallen into crisis despite its political, economic, and social achievements, whether alternative concepts of social order are on the rise, how these contestations differ from earlier contestations, and what the consequences are for the global challenges of our time. SCRIPTS is a multidisciplinary research consortium operating since 2019, funded by the German Research Foundation (DFG) until the end of 2025 (EXC 2055, Project-ID: 390715649). As such, SCRIPTS recognised the need to generate empirical evidence to further its research agenda.

The comparative public opinion survey "Public Attitudes towards the Liberal Script" (PALS) is part of the SCRIPTS research agenda, and it aims, first and foremost, to measure citizen attitudes in different countries around the globe towards the liberal script. Based on the notion of the world society approach (Meyer et al. 1997), we define a "script" as a shared understanding of the organisation of society that is expressed in normative statements on how society ought to be (*Sollen*) and empirical statements on how it works (*Sein*) (Börzel/Zürn 2020). Scripts also contain grammar and action repertoires for arriving from *Sein* to *Sollen* and *vice versa*. Different scripts compete for relevance and dominance as well as the appropriate organisation of society. Especially dominant scripts also justify and legitimise the exercise of political rule, i.e. polity, politics, and policies.

Two types of research questions are at the heart of PALS: First, to what extent do citizens around the globe support the liberal script and its components? Which components of the liberal script are supported, which are strongly contested, and how do individuals from different countries or different social groups differ in their preferences? Second, how can we explain differences in the degree of support or opposition to the liberal script? Which country features and socio-structural characteristics of individuals can help understand why some citizens support, and others reject the liberal script?

Why are citizen opinions significant and important for studying these questions? According to Max Weber's (1985) seminal work, the institutionalisation of a social order needs to be accompanied by citizen beliefs in the appropriateness and legitimacy of this order. Without the belief of citizens in the appropriateness and legitimacy of a given political order, it cannot survive in the long run. A similar argument can be found in political culture research, whose tradition stems from Gabriel A. Almond and Sidney Verba's *The Civic Culture* (1963). This perspective assumes that political institutions are stable only when there is congruence between institutions and citizen attitudes (Fuchs 2007). Thus, the relative relevance of the liberal order depends on whether citizens accept its prescriptions. Against this background, we ask to which extent the belief of individuals around the world aligns with the liberal script. Is the liberal script broadly accepted, or only certain parts of it in certain parts of the world?

PALS was conducted in 26 countries between December 2021 and July 2022, with over 50,000 respondents.¹ There are a variety of other comparative surveys that measure individuals' values as well as social and political attitudes. Many of these surveys only refer to a specific world region, mostly Europe, such as the Eurobarometer survey (EB), the European Social Survey (ESS) or the European Value Study (EVS). In contrast, PALS covers all regions of the globe and very diverse political and cultural contexts. Surveys that take into account non-European countries and especially countries from the so-called Global South, such as the International Survey Programme (IS-SP), tend to include more Western than non-Western countries, while the included countries from non-Western are often the most socio-economically developed countries from the respective region (e.g. Chile, South Africa, or Japan). In contrast, PALS aims for a more heterogeneous set of countries to achieve a global perspective.

The World Value Survey (WVS) is the survey that comes closest to PALS. Currently, the WVS consists of seven waves and is carried out in even more countries than PALS. The WVS focuses on the question of to what extent modernisation processes influence people's values and whether there is a shift from religious and traditional values to secular and self-expression values. In contrast, PALS focuses on the extent to which citizens support liberal values and liberal social

¹ A second wave adding four new countries (Hungary, Israel, Serbia, and Thailand) and revisiting six countries already part of the first wave (France, Germany, Latvia, Poland, Turkey, and the USA), is in preparation.

order. Even though there is an overlap between modern and liberal values, several key elements of the liberal script are not directly covered by the WVS. For example, the WVS only tangentially addresses individual self-determination. While some items in the WVS touch on this core principle of the liberal script (e.g. important child qualities, preferences for freedom over equality), PALS goes into much more detail. In the same vein, the principle of the rule of law is covered much more substantially in PALS compared to the WVS, which mainly addresses respondents' evaluation of corruption in their country. We explain in more detail what we mean by liberal values and the liberal script in the next section. Additionally, existing comparative surveys tend to produce solely observational data. As some of the research questions of SCRIPTS are causal, PALS includes survey experimental components.²

The goal of this paper is to describe the conceptual framework, content, and methodology of the survey in a comprehensive manner. In describing the core features of the liberal script, we will be brief and refer to considerations published elsewhere. More detailed descriptions of several aspects of PALS can be found in referenced documentation.³

2 CONCEPTUAL APPROACH AND CONTENT OF THE QUESTIONNAIRE

The liberal script is one among several competing scripts of how to organise a society. While it is relatively easy to define the concept of scripts (see Section 1), it is more difficult to grasp the specific content of the liberal script, given the enormous variation and scholarly debate. Hence, the liberal script is not a static and unchanging work in a library, where it can be consulted in case of need or dispute. Indeed, while we often talk about "the" liberal script we are conscious that there is no single stable liberal script that remains unchanged in different times, different social contexts, or different regions of the world (Fukuyama 2022). Instead, the liberal script describes a socially contextualised, internally contested, combination of ideas and social practices. With PALS, we aim to measure attitudes towards the liberal script in its contemporary global form(s) at the beginning of the 21st century – meaning, we allow for variation between and within societies but do not focus on a historical perspective.

To capture the contemporary liberal script, we opted for a descriptive reconstruction of what is defined as liberal by those who are regarded by others as liberals (Zürn/Gerschewski 2021: 11). The point, then, is to analyse the claims and practices of liberals regarding the organisation of society. In doing so, one can distinguish between core normative principles and institutions, standards, and procedures for enacting them. Freedom, self-determination, and equality of worth are central here. Hence, these normative principles constitute the core sphere of the liberal script and fulfil a double function. On the one hand, they are seen as desirable ideals, and on the other hand, they serve as justificatory reference points for additional elements of the liberal script (Zürn/Gerschewski 2021: 15–16). The latter elements are, in this sense, second-order principles that can be separated into different spheres. For example, they describe institutional features or subsystems that belong to liberalism but do so in varying intensity and changing composition (Zürn/Gerschewski 2021: 17). Along these lines, it is important to emphasise that we are interested in measuring acceptance of core principles and liberal elements in terms of preferences and not

² For example, the survey includes a conjoint experiment to measure which aspects respondents consider to be liberal or a measurement approach to what respondents consider to be necessary for a self-determined life.

³ Dataset, Study Report, Codebook, and Country Questionnaires can be found here: http://dx.doi.org/10.17169/refubium-41265, additional information on the project can be found here: www. pals-scripts.eu.

the performance of liberal actors and institutions directly.

PALS has translated this conception for the purposes of a survey and developed spheres to measure the different elements of the liberal script. In addition to the core principles constituting the core sphere, we distinguish three second-order spheres: a political, economic, and socio-cultural sphere. This distinction reflects the historical development of liberalism as political thought and political praxis. Liberalism first turned against arbitrary power exercised by monarchs and the church to establish fundamental civil rights (Fawcett 2018; Rosenblatt 2018). It is often claimed that in 1814 the liberales in Spain were the first to adopt the word for their political struggle in reviving the constitution and re-establishing principles of freedom, criticising the serviles for their blind obedience to the crown. Later, liberals demanded more political participation and social inclusion (Marshall 1950). With the advent of "new liberalism" in the 19th century, liberals like J.A. Hobson, Leonard Hobhouse, and later John Maynard Keynes considered questions of social progress more thoroughly. Fundamentally rethinking justifications for state interventions into the market, social rights, ranging from social welfare to education, became an integral part of the liberal script (Rosenblatt 2018: 100-115, 184-207).

What does this mean more specifically for our survey? As outlined, the concept of liberty or individual self-determination is central to the core of the liberal script. Liberty cannot be reduced to what Bernard Williams (2005: 78) calls "primitive freedom," i.e. the "simple idea of being unobstructed in doing what you want by some form of humanly imposed coercion." Primitive freedom is a "proto-political" value. Liberty thus refers not only to private freedom but to authoritative limitations to liberty to protect the liberty of others (Williams 2005: 83). The key question for liberty as the core principle of liberalism thus is

how far a person's freedom should be extended or protected, which, in turn, must be determined collectively. Historically, there have been social institutions that can and historically have restricted individual freedom, such as religious authorities, the family, or the state (Berlin 2002: 169–178; Mill 1989; Rosenblatt 2018: 68). In the questionnaire, respondents' attitudes towards individual self-determination are thus measured as the trade-off they make between individual freedom and these societal constraints. Additionally, the survey measures what respondents themselves value for leading a self-determined life.

In the political sphere, the principles of the liberal script aim to ensure that individuals have a say in political decision-making (popular sovereignty) and that rules are applied to everyone equally in a society (the rule of law). Derived from the rights of individuals to self-determination and to associate, individuals form collectives that have the right to collective self-determination, as long as every individual of the collective has a voice to decide on binding decisions through free and equal consent. Popular sovereignty or democracy thus describes the extent to which individuals have an influence on the political decision-making process (as proposed by Dahl 2006: 59).

Moreover, a self-determined life crucially depends on individual rights and a society organised by the rule of law that ensures the protection of these rights. Self-determination entails, on the one hand, limited and constitutional government and the restriction of rulers by previously established legal rules, and on the other hand, that rules are enforced equally for every member of the society (von Hayek 1960: 127). The liberal script has a universalist understanding of human rights – they should be equal for all human beings across all countries, trumping the rights of collectives to enact their own preferences in this regard. In the economic sphere, the liberal script enacts individual self-determination through the principles of the market economy and the principle of merit. A market economy is a system of exchange based on private ownership of the means of production and the laws of supply and demand. In the liberal script, emphasis is put on private over state ownership of the economy and on the belief that (economic) competition generally has a positive effect on society, as it contributes to economic growth and a fair allocation of resources. This private ownership is organised through the principle of merit over traditional or family privileges with a system of high social mobility, in which talented and determined individuals are permitted to rise to the top (Young 1961).

In the socio-cultural sphere, the liberal script proposes to organise society according to the principles of tolerance, rationality, and progress. It follows from the right to self-determination as well as the various types of equal rights that no individual should be placed above others. Thus, the societal norm of tolerance is a central principle of the liberal script. It speaks to the acceptance of the lifestyles and social identities of other individuals belonging to different societal groups. Moreover, tolerance refers to the neutrality of the state, the status of social groups, and inter-group relations, which are characterised by the principles of equality and non-discrimination. The idea of progress is also inherent to the liberal script, even if there is an overlap with ideas of modernity in this respect. Progress is based on the idea of systematic knowledge production. Thus, liberals emphasise the importance of education as well as science (Wall 2015: 4–6). Lastly, liberals view human nature as rational. They distrust fixed, absolute truth and absolute rule. Formulated by Karl Popper (2013: 203) in his differentiation between open and closed societies, the principle of openness emphasises the belief in the plurality of truth, scientific innovation, and incremental reforms over fundamental social engineering as methods for solving social problems.

Potential users of PALS data can decide for themselves which elements they consider necessary components of the liberal script or whether all spheres should be of equal weight. We measure attitudes toward the different elements of the liberal script with strongly liberal views on one end of the scale and strongly illiberal views on the other. This method allows users of PALS data to decide for themselves where on the scale they define the threshold that marks an attitude as liberal. As some of the elements of the liberal script can be in tension, we also measure whether individuals put different weights on and make trade-offs between juxtaposed elements. This distinction can provide an answer as to which elements respondents value the most and which elements they actually consider to be "liberal." In other words, while we designed the questionnaire with a clear conceptual approach in mind, PALS allows for the operationalisation of very different concepts within the realm of liberalism and even beyond. Moreover, our approach is very well suited to measure the aforementioned variations between contemporary societies.

Table 1 lists the main elements of the liberal script, how they are assigned to spheres, and provides information on their operationalisation in the questionnaire.⁴

⁴ More information on actual measurement can be found in later sections as well as in the master questionnaire (Appendix I).

Table 1: Elements of the liberal script

Sphere	Measurement
Core Sphere	
Individual self-determination	 (1) Tension between individual freedom and collective values. (2) Which groups and institutions have the right to restrict individual freedom? (3) Individual understanding of self-determination and what is necessary to live freely.
Political Sphere	
Popular sovereignty	Citizens decisive for policy making vs the influence of other actors.
Rule of law	(1) Horizontal accountability. (2) Rule of law. (3) Universality of human rights.
Economic Sphere	
Market economy	(1) Private vs state ownership.(2) Economic competition.
Principle of merit	Meritocracy decisive for wealth and success.
Socio-Cultural Sphere	
Tolerance	Tolerance for all individuals vs majority decision on what is accepted.
Progress	Focus on moral and economic progress as well as future generations vs superiority of traditions.
Rationality	(1) Modes of knowledge generation.(2) Role and relevance of science.

Going beyond the abstract acceptance of the specific elements of the liberal script, we focus on four issues that highlight inherent tensions between different elements of the liberal script and point to common critiques (Zürn/Gerschewski 2021: 6). These broad issues constitute less abstract and more day-to-day life topics which allow researchers to relate the elements of the liberal script presented in Table 1 to more specific topics and situations.

The first issue is national borders as a focal point of societal challenges in the age of globalisation. Here, the principle of individual self-determination, expressed in the rights of citizens to move beyond borders –including taking refuge in another country – is fundamentally in tension with the right to collective self-determination in the form of states being able to control their borders as they see fit (Drewski/Gerhards 2020). The second issue is the international order and the formation of international institutions and global governance structures, which pose questions about the adequate level for political decision-making and whether the sovereignty of states can be infringed upon by international authorities (Zürn 2018). The third issue is the (re-)allocation of resources and life opportunities, which responds to one of the central critiques of the liberal script. Such critiques often argue that the liberal script is unable to prevent unfair or, at least, immense levels of inequality and thus undermines the ideal of equal opportunity (Piketty 2020). Moreover, debates within liberal theory about the role of the state in interfering in the market economy, for example, by providing resources for individuals or ensuring equal representation in leadership positions as well as considerable variation in liberal societies concerning the role of the state in this regard, point to ambiguity of the liberal

Table 2: Modules of PALS

Liberal Script	Covariates and political behaviour	
MODULE A: ACCEPTANCE OF THE LIBERAL SCRIPT I: INDIVIDUAL SELF- DETERMINATION A01 Self-determination A02 Restrictions of freedom A03 Live freely	MODULE D: POLITICAL VALUES AND ATTITUDES D01 Challenges D02 Satisfaction D03 Political and social evaluations D04 Deprivation D05 Subjective identity	MODULE F: SOCIODEMOGRAPHIC QUESTIONS F01 Gender F02 Year of birth F03 Education F04 Years of schooling F05 Employment status
MODULE B: ACCEPTANCE OF THE LIBERAL SCRIPT II: POLITICAL, ECONOMIC, AND SOCIO-CULTURAL ELEMENTS B01 Collective self-determination	D06 Postmaterialism D07 Right-Wing Authoritarianism D08 Globalization D09 Freedom vs. Security Trade-offs	F06 Retired: Prior employment status F07 Housework: Prior employment status F08 In education: Prior employment status
BOT Collective self-determination BO2 Rule of law BO3 Market economy BO4 Progress: Change vs. tradition BO5 Rationality BO6 Tolerance: Equal acceptance BO7 Conjoint Task 1: Preferred country BO8 Conjoint Task 2: Preferred country BO9 Conjoint Task 2: More liberal country	MODULE E: VOTING BEHAVIOR E01 Electoral participation (last election) E02 Vote choice (last election) E03 Vote intention	 F09 Unemployed: Prior employment status F10 Permanently sick or disabled: Prior employment status F11 Internet usage F12 Citizenship: Surveyed country, at birth F13 Citizenship: Which other country, at birth F14 Citizenship: Surveyed country, today F15 Country of birth: Surveyed country
MODULE C: THE LIBERAL SCRIPT IN PRACTICE: APPLICATIONS AND CONTESTATIONS C01 Borders C02 Level of decision-making C03 Interventions C04 Public good provisions C05 Scarce jobs C06 Leadership positions C07 Generational conflict C08 Temporality		F16 Country of birth: Which other country F17 Country of birth: Parents F18 Religious denomination F19 Religious practices F20 Residential environment F21 Region of living F22 Household size F23 Household size: Persons <15 years F24 Children (yes/no) F25 Ownership F26 Household income

script in this aspect (Esping-Andersen 1990). The fourth issue is the temporality of society, that is, societal perceptions of time and the future, which play an important role in how societies approach the challenge of climate change. Whether current generations should consider the fates of future generations when making societal decisions relates to a question within the liberal script. Lastly, as these four issues do not include all possible challenges to contemporary societies and the liberal script, we also focus on what respondents themselves perceive as fundamental challenges of this time. Measuring the acceptance of the liberal script in a more abstract and situational way can help us better evaluate how much it is supported and rejected globally. In addition to differences between countries and contextual factors, we expect the level of acceptance of the liberal script to differ substantially between individuals and across social groups. For this purpose, we focus on concepts used in survey research that speak to different contestations of the liberal script, including values and attitudes and demographic features (Zetterberg 1966; see also Burgess 2018; Hoffmeyer-Zlotnik/Warner 2018; Hoffmeyer-Zlotnik/Wolf 2003.)

Data on values and attitudes include data on post-materialism (Inglehart 1971), right-wing authoritarianism (Adorno et al. 1950; see also Bizumic/Duckitt 2018 for the used short RWA scale), or subjective deprivation (Smith et al. 2012; Townsend 1987). We also look at topics such as globalisation, protection of privacy, or anti-elitist attitudes. To relate respondents' values to their behaviour, we also include questions on voting behaviour and party preferences. Data on demographics include data on education, economic resources, migration background, urbanity, and religiosity.

We clustered the thematic parts of the questionnaire in modules of which Table 2 provides an overview.

3 IMPLEMENTATION

Conducting a comparative survey in many countries around the world to measure citizen attitudes toward liberal values was part of the SCRIPTS research proposal. After approval of the proposal, a research group was established to implement the survey.⁵ This group was supported by an advisory council, which regularly monitored the progress of the project and was involved in decision-making processes, such as the final selection of countries or determining the content of the master questionnaire.⁶ Members of SCRIPTS provided extensive input based on their country- and region-specific knowledge. Moreover, various international experts were consulted to discuss the methodological challenges of such a large project - especially in surveying such heterogenous countries all over the world. By means of a public invitation to tender, a survey company – Gallup International – was selected. The company oversaw translations, scripting, and data collection, as well as all kinds of pre-tests (detailed in Subsections 3.1 and 3.2). The survey team, as well as Gallup International, worked intensely with local partners in various countries.

3.1 COUNTRY SELECTION, SAMPLING, AND MODE

The survey aimed to measure attitudes towards the liberal script from a global perspective. Therefore, the set of surveyed countries had to cover all regions of the world and, within each region, cover variations in economic and political conditions. Our country selection followed in two steps.

In the first step, we selected 13 countries to ensure variance on three dimensions: (a) geographical region (distinguishing between Africa, the Americas, Asia (including Oceania), and Europe, following the UN classification); (b) Varieties of Democracy's (V-Dem) Electoral Democracy Index (Coppedge et al. 2016, 2022); (c) a combination of the Human Development Index and the Gini coefficient which adds information on the status of societal development and core socio-economic issues. We restricted our set of countries to those with at least one million inhabitants and for which we had valid empirical data on all three dimensions. This process left us with 142 countries. We then made use of the logic of experimental research to generate strata. A fully crossed design would produce 16 strata $(4*2^2 = 16)$ (i.e. a two-by-two table for each geographic region). Using tools from fractional factorial designs, we could generate 13 strata that varied over these three dimensions, which represents an efficient design (see Appendix II). We then purposively selected one country within each of these strata based on feasibility and geopolitical relevance of the countries.

⁵ The group consists of Heiko Giebler, Lukas Antoine, and Rasmus Ollroge.

⁶ The members of the advisory council are Marianne Braig, Jürgen Gerhards, Johannes Giesecke, Macartan Humphreys, Slava Jankin, and Michael Zürn.

Figure 1: Selected countries



Region	No of countries in PALS	Countries selected
Africa	5	Ghana, Nigeria, Senegal, South Africa, Tunisia
Americas	5	Brazil, Chile, Mexico, Peru, USA
Asia and Oceania	7	Australia, India, Indonesia, Japan, Singapore, South Korea, Turkey
Europe	9	France, Germany, Italy, Latvia, Poland, Russia, Spain, Sweden, UK
Total	26	

In the second step, we added a group of 13 additional countries. For these, the rationale was (a) to select cases that have appeared prominently in existing literature or are of special geopolitical relevance and (b) to oversample from the group of more liberal countries to assess the support or rejection of the liberal script within more liberal societies. Figure 1 shows the 26 selected countries.⁷

The survey was implemented using a mixed-mode design. In 19 out of the 26 countries, data was collected via computer-assisted web interviews (CAWI) with respondents recruited from pre-existing online-access panels. Internet coverage has increased in many countries over the past decades to the point where over 90% of the population has access to the Internet. In parallel, infrastructure for survey and market research in the form of large-scale online-access panels has emerged in many countries around the globe. These developments have led to online surveys being an increasingly reliable tool for fast, timely, and relatively low-cost data collection that still produces high-quality data (Callegaro et al. 2014). Moreover, getting representative samples using probability sampling (either via phone or personal interviews) suffers more and more from respondents' unwillingness to participate (Olson et al. 2020). Nevertheless, in countries where Internet

⁷ Originally, Morocco was among the 26 selected countries. However, during the fieldwork phase, the Moroccan government withdrew the official permission to conduct the survey in the country. As a result, Tunisia was added to the country set as a substitute for Morocco.

coverage and infrastructure of online access panels were not sufficient, we opted for traditional face-to-face data collection via computer-assisted personal interviews (CAPI).⁸

Permanent residents aged 18 or older living in private households - regardless of nationality were the target population in all countries. In CA-WI countries, samples are quota-based according to age, gender, education, region of living, and degree of urbanity. The quotas are based on population statistics of the "offline population" (resident population aged 18 and over). Respondents received a small incentive for participation assigned by the survey company. In CAPI countries, random probability samples were drawn. The samples are stratified by region of living and degree of urbanity.9 Within each stratum, several sampling points were randomly selected. From each sampling point, households were selected via a "random-walk procedure." Sampling points and households were chosen proportionate to the population. Within selected households, interviewees were selected by the "next birthday rule". For more details concerning mode and sampling design, see section 2.1 of the PALS Study Report.

3.2 QUESTIONNAIRE DESIGN, PRE-TESTING, AND FIELDWORK

All items that measure attitudes use questions that ask respondents to place themselves on sixpoint Likert scales.¹⁰ The scale endpoints represent opposing views. In some cases, the end poles of the scale were labelled with opposing statements, while in other cases, a single statement was presented to the respondents in the question, and the endpoints were labelled with "Fully disagree" and "Fully agree." Items in the socio-demographic module had nominal and ordinal answering scales corresponding to the content of the item.

For all items in the questionnaire, respondents were presented with the answering options "Don't know" and "I prefer not to say." The only items where respondents were required to give a substantive answer were items used for the quota sampling in the CAWI questionnaires, namely gender, year of birth, education, region of living, and locality.¹¹ The CAPI questionnaire allowed non-substantive answers on these items, as they were not needed for the sampling in the CAPI countries. In the CAWI questionnaire, questions were presented to the respondents on separate pages of the questionnaire, except for some item batteries, where items had identical scales, which were presented in a matrix format on a single page.

Some aspects of ordering items in the questionnaire were randomised between respondents. First, the overall order of the questionnaire modules (see Table 2) was randomised, such that the position of module C (items related to the liberal script in practice: applications and contestations) and module D (political values and attitudes) were randomly assigned to respondents in order to control for respondent-fatigue, which could potentially affect the answers to items placed later in the questionnaire. Second, the order of items within item batteries was randomised to prevent any ordering effects.

The English master questionnaire was translated by the survey company using two professional

⁸ Since it is difficult to administer more complex survey items (e.g. experiments) via telephone interviews, we opted for the use of CAPI and CAWI interviews only.

⁹ In Ghana, Senegal, South Africa, and Tunisia, all regions of the respective countries were covered by the sampling frame. In India, Nigeria, and Peru, some regions were excluded from the sampling frame for feasibility reasons, e.g. security issues.

¹⁰ The only exceptions were items C02 and D06, in which respondents were asked to select up to two out of four answer options.

¹¹ Respondents who did not want to answer the quota questions, as well as respondents whose responses fell outside of the sampling frame (e.g. being too young) or who fell into categories for which the quotas had already been filled, were screened out.

translators with native speaker equivalency in each language. Translators worked independently from each other on each translation. A third person was used to decide if there were conflicts between the two translations. For languages spoken in multiple surveyed countries (English, Spanish, French, and Russian), the translated questionnaires were nevertheless "localised" for each country to make the language as accessible to the respective population as possible. Finally, questionnaires were evaluated by researchers with contextual and language knowledge. For more details concerning the translation process, see section 2.4 of the PALS Study Report.

The questionnaire underwent a pre-testing phase consisting of cognitive interviews and pilot studies in Chile, Germany, Japan, and Nigeria. The rationale for selecting these four countries for the pre-tests was to test the questionnaire in countries from all four sampled world regions and across different political and cultural contexts. We also wanted to test the implementation of the survey across countries with different quality levels of survey infrastructure, different modes, and different sampling designs. The cognitive interviews were conducted with the goal of better understanding respondents' perceptions of the length of the questionnaire, as well as the performance of individual items, to optimise respondents' understanding and experience of the questionnaire (see Farrall et al. 2012). In each country, six in-depth interviews were conducted with respondents with varying combinations of characteristics concerning age, gender, education, locality, and interest in politics. Each respondent filled out the questionnaire, followed by an in-depth interview on general perceptions of the questionnaire and problems with understanding specific items. The general feedback from the interviews was positive: Most items were well-understood by the respondents, the topic was of interest to them, and the duration of the questionnaire was perceived as acceptable. Yet the wording of

several items was revised based on feedback from the interviews to make the meaning easier to understand.

After adapting the questionnaire, pilot studies were conducted using the same sampling strategy as planned for the main fieldwork (quota samples and CAWI in Chile, Germany, and Japan; probability sample and CAPI in Nigeria). The fieldwork for the pilots took place in September and October of 2021. We collected 1,000 interviews in each of the three CAWI countries and 500 interviews in Nigeria. The data from the pilot studies were analysed to identify problems concerning the questionnaire as well as the overall implementation of the survey. This analysis led to minor changes to the questionnaire. While most items that were newly constructed for use in PALS functioned well, some had to be excluded, as responses indicated that respondents did not fully understand the meaning. Concerning the implementation of the survey, the collected data performed reasonably well compared to benchmarks of official statistics on socio-demographics and voting behaviour. For more details concerning questionnaire development and pre-testing, see section 2.3 of the PALS Study Report.

The main fieldwork started in the CAWI countries in December 2021 and lasted between four and six weeks per country. While the progress of the fieldwork was constantly monitored during the whole fieldwork period via an online platform, several additional quality controls were enacted at specific points of the fieldwork. First, after 1,000 interviews were completed across countries, a preliminary dataset was checked to validate the correct implementation of the questionnaires. Second, after reaching 75% of the targeted interviews per country, each country dataset was thoroughly rechecked to potentially identify and correct any country-specific issues. In addition, this step was used to calculate the threshold for identifying and excluding "speeders" (Greszki et al. 2015). As



Figure 2: Schedule of pretests and fieldwork

we explain in more detail in Section 4, interviews with an overall duration below 50% of the median duration of each country and, if applicable, the language version were considered too short and, therefore, excluded. In addition, we excluded interviews that gave too many non-substantive responses (respondents answering "I prefer not to say" or "Don't know" 60 times or more).¹² This exclusion was implemented when 75% of the data had been collected to allow quota targets to be replaced. A slight oversampling per country allowed us to also exclude invalid interviews after finishing fieldwork.

The fieldwork period for the CAPI countries lasted from January to April 2022 and took six to ten weeks to complete all interviews. After the first 1,000 interviews, fieldwork was closely monitored to ensure reaching the sample targets. A substantial proportion of interviewees were called up after the interview by local supervisors to ensure that the interview took place as reported. Since speeding is considered less of a problem in CAPI surveys, we only set a general minimum threshold of 15 minutes for an interview to last and made the local administrators back-check all interviews that lasted 15 to 20 minutes. The collection of geocodes, which was permitted in most countries, also allowed us to validate the location of the interviews.¹³

Figure 2 provides a more detailed overview of the schedule of the data collection efforts. Except for differences due to the data collection mode,

¹² The total number of items shown to respondents slightly varied between 115 and 120 due to filtering.

¹³ We collected metadata and background information to measure interview quality and interview conditions, such as time spent on answering specific questions, overall duration, the device used (CAWI), or interview situation (CAPI). This information might also be used for substantial and methodological research, but data protection issues apply.

cognitive interviews, pilot surveys, and the main fieldwork overlap as much as possible in different countries. We see this compressed schedule as an advantage over other comparative public opinion studies where data collection often takes place over a period of years.

4 DESCRIPTION OF THE DATASET

In this section, we provide additional information on the dataset, its contents as well as on how to access it. This information should give users an easy approach to obtaining data for their own research.

4.1 NUMBER OF OBSERVATIONS AND QUOTA FULFILLMENT

Table 3 gives an overview of the countries included, details for each country, the mode, the languages in which the questionnaire was delivered, the fieldwork period, the number of contacts, the response rate, and the number of observations in the dataset. For CAWI countries, the number of contacts refers to the total number of panel members that received an invitation to participate in the survey and thus includes persons screened out for eligibility reasons because their quota was already filled and persons that did not complete the questionnaire. For CAPI countries, the number of contacts refers to the total number of households contacted and thus includes households or individuals within households that chose not to participate in the survey, households that did not respond to four contact attempts, and interviews that were not completed. For both modes, the response rate is calculated by dividing the number of completed interviews (including those that were subsequently deleted for quality reasons) by the total number of contacts according to AAPOR's (2016) standard definition. The figures reflect what we already know from previous research on surveys; the response rate for

face-to-face interviews (CAPI) is higher (56.47%) than the CAWI mode (39.59%). All in all, the rates do not show problematic levels or patterns. Finally, the column "Observations" refers to the number of responses in the dataset for a specific country after excluding interviews deemed invalid due to quality concerns.

4.2 VARIABLES

The dataset includes variables depicting respondents' answers to the questionnaire as well as variables containing administrative information. The names of non-administrative variables are capitalised while names of administrative variables are not capitalised. Administrative variables include the unique respondent identifier, the name of the country as well as alphabetic and numeric country codes from the International Organization for Standardization (ISO), the language and mode of the interview, the start and end dates and times of the interview, the device used for conducting the interview, quota variables, weighting variables, and a duration variable. Additional administrative variables can be found in an auxiliary dataset that can be merged with the main dataset using the unique respondent identifier. The auxiliary dataset contains, for example, information on the CAPI sampling, randomisation processes, and timestamps.

4.3 CODING OF MISSING VALUES

For all variables in the dataset, the digit "9" is added to the code for missing answers so that its value is larger than the range of valid values per variable. For example, the code for "I prefer not to say" always ends with 98 and, depending on the range of valid answers of each variable, can consist of additional digits (e.g. 998, 9998...). There are four types of missing value codes:

 "Not applicable" is coded with the ending 96. "Not applicable" refers to instances when Table 3: Overview by country

Country	Mode	Languages	Fieldwork period (DD.MM.YY)	Number of contacts	Response rate	Observa- tions
Australia	CAWI	English	20.12.21-16.01.22	5,933	35.72%	2,032
Brazil	CAWI	Portuguese	23.12.21–16.01.22	5,109	43.86%	2,110
Chile	CAWI	Spanish	23.12.21-28.01.22	4,144	52.63%	2,005
France	CAWI	French	22.12.21-24.01.22	4,718	45.04%	2,001
Germany	CAWI	German	13.12.21-07.01.22	5,205	41.33%	2,020
Ghana	CAPI	Akan, English	25.01.22-23.03.22	3,424	58.41%	2,000
India	CAPI	Hindi, Telegu, Assamese, Gujarati, Kannada, Malay- alam, Marathi, Oriya, Pun- jabi, Tamil, Bengali, English	15.02.22–31.03.22	4,844	58.26%	2,822
Indonesia	CAWI	Indonesian, Javanese	24.12.21-08.03.22	4,845	44.64%	2,001
Italy	CAWI	Italian	20.12.21-12.01.22	5,927	36.90%	2,119
Japan	CAWI	Japanese	24.12.21-28.02.22	6,357	33.90%	2,000
Latvia	CAWI	Latvian, Russian	21.12.21-29.01.22	4,348	50.25%	2,100
Mexico	CAWI	Spanish	22.12.21-22.01.22	4,647	48.78%	2,160
Nigeria	CAPI	English, Igbo, Hausa, Yoruba	08.02.22–19.03.22	3,808	52.52%	2,000
Peru	CAPI	Spanish, Quechua	19.03.22-11.06.22	3,697	54.83%	2,018
Poland	CAWI	Polish	20.12.21-13.01.22	5,344	39.84%	2,037
Russia	CAWI	Russian	21.12.21-03.02.22	5,854	38.32%	2,143
Senegal	CAPI	French, Wolof	18.02.22-11.04.22	3,290	60.79%	1,996
Singapore	CAWI	English, Malay, Mandarin	20.12.21-25.01.22	6,357	32.50%	2,010
South Africa	CAPI	Afrikaans, Xhosa, English, Zulu	04.02.22-12.03.22	4,372	46.43%	2,030
South Korea	CAWI	Korean	21.12.21-20.01.22	6,703	31.75%	2,084
Spain	CAWI	Catalan, Spanish	22.12.21-17.01.22	4,905	44.06%	2,114
Sweden	CAWI	Swedish	09.12.21-15.01.22	6,683	32.68%	2,090
Tunisia	CAPI	Arabic	01.07.22-31.07.22	2,985	68.38%	2,012
Turkey	CAWI	Turkish	20.12.21-28.01.22	4,341	51.03%	2,016
United Kingdom	CAWI	English	17.12.21-06.03.22	6,618	32.90%	2,007
USA	CAWI	English, Spanish	22.12.21–11.01.22	6,113	35.33%	2,033
Total observation	s in data	set				53,960

the missing value is not due to the respondent's answer but the nature of the variable, for example, not affected cases on metadata variables specific to one of the modes or filtered-out cases on items with a filter.

- "I prefer not to say" is coded with the ending 98.
- "Don't know" is coded with the ending 99.
- "Other" is coded with the ending 97.

Figure 3: Items with the most missing values



For items where respondents were able to select multiple answers, invalid answer categories are coded into separate variables that have the same name as the main variable and end with "_REF" ("I prefer not to say"), "_DK" ("Don't know"), or "_ none" ("None of the above"). While cognitive interviews and the pilot studies already suggested no problematic questionnaire items - neither regarding complexity nor in regard to sensitive topics - actual fieldwork can reveal surprises. Hence, we had a look at the proportion of missing values. Figure 3 presents an overview of those survey items with the highest number of missing values. First and foremost, the proportion of missing values is rather low for most items. Furthermore, we see that larger proportions correspond to items for which missing values are more often expected. These items represent more complex tasks like reading a conjoint table and evaluating the profiles or questions on somewhat sensitive topics - like voting or income. All in all, there is no indication, based on the main data collection effort, that there are any issues with the questionnaire.

4.4 WEIGHTS

The dataset contains two sets of weights, one consisting of poststratification weights and the other of weights to adjust the sizes of the country samples. As countries were selected purposively we do not include contry level sampling weights. All weights were constructed for each country separately using iterative proportional fitting (raking) with a lower threshold of .2, an upper threshold of 5, and a mean of 1.

1) The poststratification weights aim to adjust the sample distributions to known characteristics of the within country target population to increase the representativeness of the samples. Three post-stratification weights are included that differ slightly in their construction:

 For the first weight (w1a), the country samples are weighted to fit official population distributions on gender and age (interlocked), education, subjective residential environment, and region of residence. The same procedure is applied to CAWI and CAPI countries, ignoring the different sampling strategies for the two modes.

- The second poststratification weight (w1b) considers the different sampling strategies for CAWI and CAPI. For the CAWI countries, the weight is constructed identically to w1a. For the CAPI countries, an objective residential environment classification based on the sampling point classification from the sampling frame is used instead of the respondents' subjective evaluation of their residential environment. Additionally, the objective residential environment is interlocked with the region where the respondents live.
- The third poststratification weight (w2) is constructed similarly to w1a and thus identical for both modes. The difference to w1a lies in the omission of the subjective residential environment variable from the target profile, as the respondents' subjective assessment of their residential environment might differ from the objective classification taken from population statistics.

2) The population weights aim to adjust the sampling sizes of the countries:

- The first population weight (w3) adjusts the sample sizes to the relative size of the country population to the total population of all countries included in the survey. This type of weight is common for international comparative surveys and is used to adjust the results of the whole-survey averages.
- The second population weight (w4) adjusts sample sizes to an equal number of respondents.

Efforts to ensure representativeness, regardless of whether we follow a probability-sampling approach or apply quotas, are never fully successful. One way to evaluate the representativeness of a sample is by looking at the post-stratification weights. Figure 4 shows the distribution of weighted values (w1b) for each country. There are differences between countries and, most importantly, between modes, with CAPI countries showing a wider distribution. This occurrence is not only expected but also the case in other comparative survey projects – meaning that probability samples imperfectly represent the actual population. Even still, we believe that none of the country-specific figures indicate unusually large problems.

4.5 DATA ACCESS

The dataset and associated documentation will be available through Freie Universität's data repository "Refubium" (Giebler et al. 2023) as well as through a website created specifically for the PALS project.¹⁴ The dataset will be available to the public in May 2024 after an embargo, during which SCRIPTS researchers will have first access to the data. Due to the broad scope of the questionnaire and the objective that as many researchers as possible can to work with the data set, it is our priority to make merging the PALS dataset with other data sets as easy as possible. The adding of country indicators is possible via the country codes (ISO 3166-1 alpha-3 and ISO 3166-1 numeric) and information on party preferences can be added from party datasets such as MARPOR, V-Dem Party, or Global Party Survey via the Partyfacts ID (Döring/Regel 2019).

¹⁴ Freie Universität's data repository "Refubium": http://dx.doi. org/10.17169/refubium-41265. PALS website: www.pals-scripts.eu.

Figure 4: Weight distribution by country



REFERENCES

- AAPOR The American Association for Public Opinion Research 2016: Standard Definitions. Final Dispositions of Case Codes and Outcome Rates for Surveys, Alexandria, VA: AAPOR.
- Adorno, Theodor W. / Frenkel-Brunswik, Else / Levinson, Daniel / Sanford, Nevitt 1950: The Authoritarian Personality, Oxford: Harpers.
- Almond, Gabriel A. / Verba, Sidney 1963: The Civic Culture. Political Attitudes and Democracy in Five Nations, Princeton: Princeton University Press.
- Berlin, Isaiah 2002: Liberty. Incorporating Four Essays on Liberty (ed. by Hardy, Henry), Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Bizumic, Boris / Duckitt, John 2018: Investigating Right Wing Authoritarianism with a Very Short Authoritarianism scale, Journal of Social and Political Psychology 6(1): 129–150.
- Börzel, Tanja A. / Zürn, Michael 2020: Contestations of the Liberal Script (SCRIPTS). A Research Program, SCRIPTS Working Paper No. 1, Berlin: Cluster of Excellence 2055 "Contestations of the Liberal Script (SCRIPTS)".
- Burgess, Robert (ed.) 2018: Key Variables in Social Investigation. London: Routledge.
- Callegaro, Mario / Baker, Reginald P. / Bethlehem, Jelke / Göritz, Anja S. / Krosnick, Jon A. / Lavrakas, Paul J. 2014: Online Panel Research. History, Concepts, Applications and a Look at the Future, in: Callegaro, Mario / Baker, Reginald P. / Bethlehem, Jelke / Göritz, Anja S. / Krosnick, Jon A. / Lavrakas, Paul J. (eds.): Online Panel Research. A Data Quality Perspective, Chichester: Wiley, 1–22.
- Coppedge, Michael / Lindberg, Staffan / Skaaning, Svend-Erik / Teorell, Jan 2016: Measuring high level democratic principles using the V-Dem data, International Political Science Review 37(5): 580–593.
- Coppedge, Michael / Gerring, John / Knutsen, Carl Henrik / Lindberg, Staffan I. / Skaaning,

Svend-Erik / Teorell, Jan / Altman, David / Bernhard, Michael / Fish, M. Steven / Cornell, Agnes / Gjerløw, Haakon / Glynn, Adam / Hicken, Allen / Krusell, Joshua / Marquardt, Kyle L. / McMann, Kelly / Mechkova, Valeriya / Medzihorsky, Juraj / Gastaldi, Lisa / Paxton, Pamela / Pemstein, Daniel / von Römer, Johannes / Hindle, Garry / Seim, Brigitte / Sigman, Rachel / Staton, Jeffrey / Alizada, Nazifa / Tzelgov, Eitan / Wang, Yi-ting / Wig, Tore / Wilson, Steven / Ziblatt, Daniel / Ilchenko, Nina / Grahn, Sandra / Kinzelbach, Katrin / Rydén, Oskar 2022: V-Dem Dataset 2022, Gothenburg: Varieties of Democracy (V-Dem) Project. DOI: 10.23696/vdemds22.

- Dahl, Robert A. 2006: A Preface to Democratic Theory. Expanded Edition, Chicago: University of Chicago Press.
- Döring, Holger / Regel, Sven 2019: Party Facts. A database of political parties worldwide, Party Politics 25(2): 97–109.
- Drewski, Daniel /Gerhards, Jürgen 2020: The Liberal Border Script and Its Contestations. An Attempt of Definition and Systematization, SCRIPTS Working Paper No. 4, Berlin: Cluster of Excellence 2055 "Contestations of the Liberal Script (SCRIPTS)".
- Esping-Andersen, Gosta 1990: Three Worlds of Welfare Capitalism, Princeton: Princeton University Press.
- Farrall, Stephen / Priede, Camilla / Ruuskanen, Elina / Jokinen, Anniina / Galev, Todor / Arcai, Michela / Maffei, Stefano 2012: Using cognitive interviews to refine translated survey questions. an example from a crossnational crime survey, International Journal of Social Research Methodology 15(6): 467– 483.
- Fawcett, Edmund 2018: Liberalism. The Life of an Idea, Princeton: Princeton University Press.
- Fuchs, Dieter 2007: The Political Culture Paradigm. In: Dalton, Russell J. / Klingemann, Hans-Dieter (eds.): The Oxford Handbook of

Political Behavior, Oxford: Oxford University Press, 161–184.

- Fukuyama, Francis 1992: The End of History and the Last Man, New York: The Free Press.
- Fukuyama, Francis 2022: Liberalism and Its Discontents, London: Profile Books.
- Giebler, Heiko / Antoine, Lukas / Ollroge, Rasmus / Gerhards, Jürgen / Zürn, Michael / Giesecke, Johannes / Humphreys, Macartan (2023): Public Attitudes towards the Liberal Script (PALS) Survey. Dataset v1.0, Berlin: Cluster of Excellence 2055 "Contestations of the Liberal Script (SCRIPTS)".
- Greszki, Robert / Meyer, Marco / Schoen, Harald 2015: Exploring the Effects of Removing "Too Fast" Responses and Respondents from Web Surveys, *Public Opinion Quarterly* 79(2): 471– 503.
- Hoffmeyer-Zlotnik, Jürgen Heinz Peter / Warner, Uwe 2018: Sociodemographic Questionnaire Modules for Comparative Social Surveys, Wiesbaden: Springer.
- Hoffmeyer-Zlotnik, Jürgen Heinz Peter / Wolf, Christof (eds.) 2003: Advances in Cross-National Comparison. A European Working Book for Demographic and Socio-Economic Variables, New York: Springer Science+Business Media.
- Inglehart, Ronald 1971: The Silent Revolution in Europe. Intergenerational Change in Post-Industrial Societies, American Political Science Review 65(4): 991–1017.
- Marshall, Thomas H. 1950: Citizenship and Social Class, Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Meyer, John W. / Boli, John / Thomas, George M. / Ramirez, Francisco O. 1997: World Society and the Nation-State, *American Journal of Sociology* 103(1): 144–181.
- Mill, John Stuart 1989: The Subjection of Women, in: Collini, Stefan (ed.): 'On Liberty' and Other Writings, Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 117–218.

Olson, Kristen / Smyth Jolene D. / Horwitz, Rachel / Keeter, Scott / Lesser, Virginia / Marken, Stephanie / Mathiowetz, Nancy A. / McCarthy, Jaki S. / O'Brien, Eileen / Opsomer, Jean D. / Steiger, Darby / Sterrett, David / Su, Jennifer / Suzer-Gurtekin, Z. Tuba / Turakhia, Chintan / Wagner, James 2020: Transitions from Telephone Surveys to Self-Administered and Mixed-Mode Surveys. AAPOR Task Force Report. Journal of Survey Statistics and Methodology online first: 1–31.

Piketty, Thomas 2020: Capital and Ideology (transl. by Goldhammer, Arthur), Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.

- Popper, Karl 2013: The Open Society and Its Enemies, Princeton: Princeton University Press.
- Rosenblatt, Helena 2018: The Lost History of Liberalism. From Ancient Rome to the Twenty-First Century, Princeton: Princeton University Press.
- Smith, Heather J. / Pettigrew Thomas F. / Pippin, Gina M. / Bialosiewicz, Silvana 2012: Relative Deprivation. A Theoretical and Meta-Analytic Review, Personality and Social Psychology Review 16(3): 203–232.
- Townsend, Peter 1987: Deprivation, Journal of Social Policy 16(2): 125–146.
- von Hayek, Friedrich August 1960: The Constitution of Liberty, Chicago: University of Chicago Press.
- Wall, Steven 2015: Introduction, in: Wall, Steven (ed.): The Cambridge Companion to Liberalism. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1–18.
- Weber, Max 1985: Wirtschaft und Gesellschaft (ed. by Winckelmann, Johannes), Tübingen: Mohr Siebeck.
- Williams, Bernard 2005: From Freedom to Liberty.
 The Construction of a. Political Value, in:
 Williams, Bernard (ed.): In The Beginning
 Was The Deed. Realism And Moralism In
 Political Argument, Princeton: Princeton
 University Press, 75–96.

- Young, Michael 1961: The Rise of Meritocracy. 1870– 2033. An Essay on Education and Equality, Harmondsworth: Penguin Books Ltd.
- Zetterberg, Hans L. 1966: On Theory and Verification in Sociology, New York: Bedminster Press.
- Zürn, Michael 2018: A Theory of Global Governance. Authority, Legitimacy, and Contestation, Oxford/New York: Oxford University Press.
- Zürn, Michael / Gerschewski, Johannes 2021: Sketching the Liberal Script. A Target of Contestations, SCRIPTS Working Paper No. 10, Berlin: Cluster of Excellence 2055 "Contestations of the Liberal Script (SCRIPTS)".

APPENDIX I: MASTER QUESTIONNAIRE

MODULE A: ACCEPTANCE OF THE LIBERAL SCRIPT I: INDIVIDUAL SELF-DETERMINATION

A01 | Self-determination

Some argue that people should be allowed to live their lives as they want to, to foster individual freedom even if this contradicts the values of the society. Others argue that people should live in line with the values of the society to foster social cohesion. Where would you place yourself on the following scale?

(1) "1 - Everyone should be allowed to live as they want to, to foster individual freedom."

•••

(6) "6 - Everyone should live in line with the values of the society to foster social cohesion.

(98) "I prefer not to say."

(99) "Don't know"

A02 | Restrictions of freedom

As people are living together in a community, some restrictions of how people are living might be necessary. To what extent should each of the following be allowed to restrict a person's freedom?

(a) Religious groups or leaders

(b) The state or the government

(c) A person's family

(d) The police

(e) Large businesses and companies

(f) The values of the majority of the society

(1) "1 - Not at all allowed to restrict freedom"

(6) "6 - Fully allowed to restrict freedom"

(98) "I prefer not to say."

(99) "Don't know"

...

A03 | Live freely

People have very different opinions on what is absolutely necessary to be able to live freely and as one wants to. Below is a list of different aspects. Thinking about your own life, which of these aspects are absolutely necessary for you personally to live freely?

elect as many as applicable.	
(a1) Being accepted for who you are	
(a2) Being healthy	
(a3) Having a say in political decisions	
(a4) Having a certain degree of economic security	
(a5) Being able to learn and gain knowledge	
Individual self-determination domain:	
(b1) Having the state and companies respecting my privacy	
(b2) Possibility of assisted suicide to relieve one's own suffering	
(b3) Possibility of legal abortion	
(b4) Voluntary childlessness	
(b5) More say for women in society	
(b6) Not having to hide one's sexuality	
(b7) Being able to travel to other countries	
(b8) Living free from pollution	
Political domain:	
(c1) Being able to express one's opinion	
(c2) Living in a country with a fair legal system	
(c3) Living in a country free from war and forced displacement	
(c4) Living in a country with low crime rates	
Economic domain:	
(d1) Having job security	
(d2) Owning a home	
(d3) Having enough time for leisure	
(d4) Living in a country with low economic inequality	

A03 Live freely	
Socio-cultural domain:	
(e1) Not being restricted by traditions	
(e2) Being able to practice one's religion	
(e3) Being part of a community of people sh	aring similar values
(e4) Having access to free media and inform	ation
(0) Not selected	
(1) Selected	
(none) "None of these are absolutely necess	sary for me to live freely."
(REF) "I prefer not to say."	
(DK) "Don't know"	

Notes: Each respondent receives a list of 10 items. The first five items (a1-5) are presented to all respondents, while an additional set of five items is randomly selected from different domains: Two items are selected from the Individual self-determination domain (b1-8), and one item each from the Political (c1-4), Economic (d1-4), and Socio-cultural (e1-4) domains.

MODULE B: ACCEPTANCE OF THE LIBERAL SCRIPT II: POLITICAL, ECONOMIC, AND SOCIO-CULTURAL ELEMENTS

B01 | Collective self-determination

There is often disagreement about what should be taken into consideration in policy-making. For each of the following situations, whose opinion should be most decisive for policy-making according to you?

B01_a | Collective self-determination: Political leaders

What if citizens and political leaders disagree? On the scale below, please indicate whose opinion should be most decisive for policy-making according to you.

(1) "1 - Citizens' opinion should be most decisive for policy-making."

•••

(6) "6 - Strong political leaders' opinion should be most decisive for policy-making."

(98) "I prefer not to say."

(99) "Don't know"

B01_b | Collective self-determination: Elected politicians

What if citizens and elected politicians disagree? On the scale below, please indicate whose opinion should be most decisive for policy-making according to you.

(1) "1 – Citizens' opinion should be most decisive for policy-making."

...

(6) "6 - Elected politicians' opinion should be most decisive for policy-making."

(98) "I prefer not to say."

B01_c | Collective self-determination: Established experts

What if citizens and established experts disagree? On the scale below, please indicate whose opinion should be most decisive for policy-making according to you.

(1) "1 - Citizens' opinion should be most decisive for policy-making."

...

(6) "6 - Established experts' opinion should be most decisive for policy-making."

(98) "I prefer not to say."

(99) "Don't know"

B01_d | Collective self-determination: Religious leaders

What if citizens and religious leaders disagree? On the scale below, please indicate whose opinion should be most decisive for policy-making according to you.

(1) "1 - Citizens' opinion should be most decisive for policy-making."

...

(6) "6 - Religious leaders' opinion should be most decisive for policy-making."

(98) "I prefer not to say."

(99) "Don't know"

B01_e | Collective self-determination: The military

What if citizens and the military disagree? On the scale below, please indicate whose opinion should be most decisive for policy-making according to you.

(1) "1 - Citizens' opinion should be most decisive for policy-making."

...

(6) "6 - The military's opinion should be most decisive for policy-making."

(98) "I prefer not to say."

B02 | Rule of law

There are different opinions on the role of laws in society and to whom they should apply to. Some prefer that rules apply to everyone alike while others claim that this is not reasonable. Where would you place yourself on each of the following scales?

B02_a | Rule of law: Judicial control of government

Should the government always obey the laws and court decisions, even if it hinders its work or should the government not be bound at all by laws or court decisions in all instances to be able to work unhindered?

(1) "1 - The government should always obey the laws and the court decisions, even if it hinders its work."

...

(6) "6 – The government should not be bound at all by laws or court decisions in all instances to be able to work unhindered."

(98) "I prefer not to say."

(99) "Don't know"

B02_b | Rule of law: Equal enforcement of laws

Should laws be enforced equally for everyone in society or can they, under certain circumstances, be enforced differently for different people?

(1) "1 - Laws should be enforced equally for everyone in society."

•••

(6) "6 - Under certain circumstances, laws can be enforced differently for different people."

(98) "I prefer not to say."

(99) "Don't know"

B02_c | Rule of law: Basic rights across countries

Should every human have the same basic rights in all countries or should a country's society decide which rights people have in its country?

(1) "1 - Every human should have the same basic rights in all countries."

...

(6) "6 - A country's society should decide which rights people have in its country."

(98) "I prefer not to say."

B03 | Market economy

Now, we want to know what you think on how the economy should be working and how resources should be distributed. Where would you place yourself on the following scales?

B03_a | Market economy: Private vs. state control

What should be increased: private or state ownership of businesses and industry?

(1) "1 - Private ownership of businesses and industry should be increased."

...

(6) "6 – State ownership of businesses and industry should be increased."

(98) "I prefer not to say."

(99) "Don't know"

B03_b | Market economy: Competition good/bad for society

Is competition between businesses good or harmful to society?

(1) "1 - Competition between businesses is good for a society."

•••

(6) "6 - Competition between businesses is harmful for a society."

(98) "I prefer not to say."

(99) "Don't know"

B03_c | Market economy: Source of wealth and status

What should a person's wealth and status be based on: always on talents and efforts or always on ancestry and contacts?

(1) "1 – A person's wealth and status should always be based on talents and efforts."

•••

(6) "6 - A person's wealth and status should always be based on ancestry and contacts."

(98) "I prefer not to say."

(99) "Don't know"

B04 | Progress: Change vs. tradition

Some argue that society has to think primarily about a better future while others argue that it is all about preserving what works well nowadays. Where would you place yourself on the following scale?

(1) "1 – Society should be open for change trying to ensure a bright future."

...

(6) "6 - Society should preserve well-established traditions trying to protect what works well nowadays."

(98) "I prefer not to say."

B05 | Rationality

There are different opinions on what should be guiding important decisions in a society. Scientific research is often described as preferable while others argue that people should consider personal experiences, traditions, and common sense more strongly. Please, tell us where you would position yourself on each of the following scales.

B05_a | Rationality: Science vs. experiences, traditions, and common sense

Should societal decisions primarily be based on scientific research or on personal experiences, traditions, and common sense?

(1) "1 - Societal decisions should be primarily based on scientific research."

...

(6) "6 - Societal decisions should be primarily based on personal experiences, traditions, and common sense."

(98) "I prefer not to say."

(99) "Don't know"

B05_b | Rationality: Political influence of established scientists

When politicians make important decisions, should established scientist have more influence or less influence?

(1) "1 - Established scientists should have more influence when politicians make important decisions."

...

(6) "6 - Established scientists should have less influence when politicians make important decisions."

(98) "I prefer not to say."

(99) "Don't know"

B05_c | Rationality: Limits of scientific explanations

In a society, is it important to accept that all things can be explained by scientific research or is it important to accept that not all things can be explained by scientific research?

(1) "1 – In a society, it is important to accept that all things can be explained by scientific research."

...

(6) "6 - In a society, it is important to accept that not all things can be explained by scientific research."

(98) "I prefer not to say."

(99) "Don't know"

B05_d | Rationality: Individual vs. public determination of facts

Should everyone figure out for themselves what is correct by looking for facts or should what is correct result from public discussions of facts?

(1) "1 - Everyone should figure out for themselves what is correct by looking for facts."

...

(6) "6 - What is correct should result from public discussions of facts."

(98) "I prefer not to say."

B06 | Tolerance: Equal acceptance

People are very different, for example, in terms of gender, religion, age, ethnicity or education, but should this be taken into consideration in the way they are accepted in a society? If everyone is accepted equally, this would mean that people whose behavior and beliefs are different or which are even seen as morally wrong are also accepted. How would you place yourself on the following scale?

(1) "1 - Society should accept all people equally."

•••

(6) "6 - Society should decide on whom to accept."

(98) "I prefer not to say."

(99) "Don't know"

B07 | Conjoint Task 1: Prefered country

We are now going to show you descriptions of two fictional countries. We would like you to imagine both of these countries and tell us which of the two countries you would prefer to live in if you had to make a choice.

Dimension	Country A	Country B
Dimension 1	Realized treatment level	Realized treatment level

Treatments

Dimension (Label)	Level 1	Level 2
Rule of law (Minority rights)	The government is not free to make decisions that it thinks are good for society as a whole if these go against the rights of minority groups.	The government is free to make decisions that it thinks are good for society as a whole even if these go against the rights of minority groups.
Collective self- determination (Democracy)	Most major policy decisions are controlled by democratically elected representatives not by government experts.	Most major policy decisions are controlled by government experts not by elected representatives.
Market economy (Economic policy)	The government tries to ensure that the economy is strong by putting few controls on major industries.	The government tries to ensure that the economy is strong by actively controlling major industries.
Property rights (Tax policy)	Taxes are kept low so that individuals, and not the government, get to decide how best to use their money.	Taxes are relatively high so that the government can ensure greater equality in society.
Tolerance (Legal status of homosexuality)	Homosexual couples have the same rights as heterosexual couples.	Homosexual relationships are penalized.
Openness (Immigration)	The government encourages talented foreigners to come to work as this enriches the nation's culture.	The government makes sure that immigration is kept to a minimum to protect the nation's culture.
Benchmark (Economic situation)	The income per capita is around [3,500 / 23,000 / 43,000 / 63,000] USD. For comparison: in [COUNTRY], the income per capita is [NATIONAL GDP PER CAPITA IN USD] USD per year.	

Which of countries A or B would you prefer to live in?	
(1) "1 – I strongly prefer Country A."	
(2) "2 – I somewhat prefer Country A."	
(3) "3 – I somewhat prefer Country B."	
(4) "4 – I strongly prefer Country B."	
(98) "I prefer not to say."	
(99) "Don't know"	

Notes: Each respondent is shown a set of two countries which are described according to the seven attributes. The dimensions vary on two levels each. The levels of each dimension are randomly selected. The order of the seven dimensions is randomized but kept stable between task 1 and task 2. It is ruled out that country 1 and country 2 are equal in all dimensions. In the benchmark category, the real GDP of the respondent's survey country (in USD per capita) is inserted.

B08 | Conjoint Task 2: Prefered country

We are now going to show you descriptions of two more fictional countries. We would like you to again imagine both of these countries and tell us which of the two countries you would prefer to live in if you had to make a choice.

Dimension	Country A	Country B
Dimension 1	Realized treatment level	Realized treatment level

Which of countries A or B would you prefer to live in?	
(1) "1 – I strongly prefer Country A."	
(2) "2 – I somewhat prefer Country A."	
(3) "3 – I somewhat prefer Country B."	
(4) "4 – I strongly prefer Country B."	
(98) "I prefer not to say."	
(99) "Don't know"	

Notes: A second set of countries is displayed following the same randomized selection rules as for B07. The order of the dimensions is equal to task 1. It is ruled out that two sets of presented countries are equal.

B09 | Conjoint Task 2: More liberal country

Sometimes societies are described as being "liberal". Which of countries A and B do you consider to be more liberal?

(1) "1 – Country A is much more liberal."

(2) "2 - Country A is somewhat more liberal."

(3) "3 - Country B is somewhat more liberal."

(4) "4 - Country B is much more liberal."

(98) "I prefer not to say."

(99) "Don't know"

Notes: B08 and B09 are shown on the same screen.

MODULE C: THE LIBERAL SCRIPT IN PRACTICE: APPLICATIONS AND CONTESTATIONS

C01 | Borders

Now we are interested in your opinion concerning the borders of [COUNTRY]. Some people think that a country should have the right to substantially limit cross-border activities, like travel or trade. Others think that the borders of a country should be rather open.

To what extent would you agree or disagree to each of the following statements?

(a) My country should have the right to ban citizens' access to foreign media and websites.

(b) My country should have the right to hinder citizens from leaving their country.

(c) My country should have the right to reject refugees coming from other countries, even if they are persecuted in their home country.

(d) My country should have the right to reject immigrants who want to live in my country.

(e) My country should have the right to restrict foreign companies from buying [COUNTRY NATIONALITY] companies in order to protect my country's economy.

(f) My country should have the right to shoot at a person who crosses the country's border illegally.

(g) My country should have the right to take fingerprints from people entering the country.

(h) My country should have the right to prevent a region from becoming independent, even if the vast majority of citizens of that region wants to become independent and establish its own state.

(i) Please select answer option "4" for this statement.

(1) "1 – Fully disagree"

•••

(6) "6 – Fully agree"

(98) "I prefer not to say."

(99) "Don't know"

Notes: Item "i" is an attention check.
C02 | Level of decision-making

Political decisions can be made on the local, national, or even on different international levels – for example, the region you are living in or globally. Looking at the list of policy areas below, on which level or levels do you think each should be best addressed?

You can select up to two levels for each policy area.

u can select up to two levels for each policy area.	
a) Human rights	
b) Climate change	
c) Health care	
d) Education	
I) Primarily on the local level	
2) Primarily on the national level	
3) Primarily on the regional level ([REGION])	
4) Primarily on the global level	
REF) "I prefer not to say."	

(DK) "Don't know"

Notes: Respondents were able to select up to two answers for each item. The country-specific region refers to the supranational subregions of the UN geoscheme.

C03 | Interventions

Some people argue that under certain circumstances, the international community should have the right to intervene in other countries. Others argue that a country's independence should always be respected. To what extent would you agree or disagree to each of the following statements?

C03_a | Interventions: Human rights

What if human rights are massively violated in a country?

(1) The international community should have the right to sanction the country economically.

(2) The international community should have the right to intervene with military force.

```
(1) "1 – Fully disagree"
```

•••

(6) "6 - Fully agree"

(98) "I prefer not to say."

C03_b | Interventions: Dictatorship

What if a country is not ruled by its people but by a dictator?

(1) The international community should have the right to sanction the country economically.

(2) The international community should have the right to intervene with military force.

(1) "1 – Fully disagree"

...

(6) "6 - Fully agree"

(98) "I prefer not to say."

(99) "Don't know"

CO4 | Public good provisions

Some people argue that a society is responsible for providing certain things for all individuals in a country to improve living conditions, even if this comes with financial costs for everyone. Others argue that individuals are responsible for themselves. To what extent would you agree or disagree to each of the following statements?

(a) Society should provide school education without tuition fees for everyone.

(b) Society should provide free basic healthcare for erveryone.

(c) Society should provide welfare benefits for everyone in need.

(d) Society should provide support for people from disadvantaged groups, like minorities or the poor.

(e) Society should provide support for women to foster gender equality.

(1) "1 – Fully disagree"

...

(6) "6 - Fully agree"

(98) "I prefer not to say."

C05 | Scarce jobs

Now, we would like to talk about the criteria for selecting people for a job. Some argue that certain groups should be preferred regardless of qualifications, especially when jobs are scarce. To what extent would you agree or disagree to each of the following statements?

(a) When jobs are scarce, men should be preferred over women.

(b) When jobs are scarce, [COUNTRY CITIZENS] should be preferred over migrants living already a long time in my country.

(c) When jobs are scarce, heterosexuals should be preferred over homosexuals.

(d) When jobs are scarce, people who really need the job to make their living should be preferred over those who are economically already better of.

(e) When jobs are scarce, family members and friends should be preferred over others.

(f) When jobs are scarce, people who have the same religion as me should be preferred over others.

(g) When jobs are scarce people who belong to the same ethnic group as me should be preferred over others.

(1) "1 – Fully disagree"

...

(6) "6 - Fully agree"

(98) "I prefer not to say."

(99) "Don't know"

C06 | Leadership positions

Leadership positions in politics, the economy and society are unequally distributed between groups. Some people argue that this all comes down to competition between individuals and their qualifications. Others argue that leadership positions should be assigned with the goal of achieving equal representation. Do you agree or disagree to the following statements about who should get selected for leadership positions in [COUNTRY]?

(a) Women should be preferred over men until an equal representation is achieved.

(b) People from ethnic minorities should be preferred until an equal representation is achieved.

(c) People from poorer economic backgrounds should be preferred until an equal representation is achieved.

(1) "1 – Fully disagree"

...

(6) "6 – Fully agree"

(98) "I prefer not to say."

C07 | Generational conflict

... In a society, the interests of current generations can come into conflict with the interests of future generations. To what extent would you agree or disagree to each of the following statements?

(a) Current generations should accept less prosperity in order to protect the environment for future generations.

(b) Current generations should be allowed to take on public debt to maintain their prosperity regardless of the fact that this constitutes a burden for future generations.

(1) "1 – Fully disagree"

•••

(6) "6 – Fully agree"

(98) "I prefer not to say."

(99) "Don't know"

C08 | Temporality

People think differently about how people should use their time and about the future. To what extent would you agree or disagree to each of the following statements?

(a) One should always be on time.

(b) People should not feel forced to always use their time efficiently.

(c) Having free time should be more important than working and earning money.

(d) Enjoying the present and the moment is more important than planning the future.

(e) People should be in control of what their future looks like.

(f) A person's life should be better than that of their parents.

(1) "1 - Fully disagree"

...

(6) "6 - Fully agree"

(98) "I prefer not to say."

MODULE D: POLITICAL VALUES AND ATTITUDES

D01 | Challenges

Current developments are perceived differently by different people. Some argue that certain developments pose major threats to [COUNTRY] and its population while others consider this to be exaggerated. Thinking about the situation today, please tell us, whether you consider one or several issues on this list to be a major threat to [COUNTRY] and its population. Select as many as applicable.

(a1) People from other countries moving to the country

(a2) People having not enough influence on political decision making

(a3) The gap between the rich and the poor

(a4) Human-made climate change

(a5) Gender inequality

(b1) Young and educated people leaving the country

(b2) Governments and companies collecting data on people

(b3) Large companies' influence

(b4) Discrimination and intolerance towards minorities

(b5) War and violence

(b6) Pandemics and other health crises

(b7) Religious fundamentalism

(b8) Aging population and low birth rates

(b9) Tax evasion by big companies and the rich

(b10) Hunger and poverty

(0) Not selected

(1) Selected

(none) "None of the above is a major threat to [COUNTRY]."

(REF) "I prefer not to say."

(DK) "Don't know"

Notes: Each respondent receives a list of eight issues. The first five items (a1-5) are presented to all respondents, while three differ between respondents: They are randomly selected from a second set of 10 items (b1-10).

D02 | Satisfaction

Now, we want to know how well you think different parts of society are working. How satisfied are you with how...

(a) ...the political system is functioning in [COUNTRY] these days?

(b) ...the economic system is functioning in [COUNTRY] these days?

(1) "1 – Fully dissatisfied"

...

(6) "6 - Fully satisfied"

(98) "I prefer not to say."

(99) "Don't know"

D03 | Political and social evaluations

To what extent do you agree or disagree to each of the following statements?

(a) Generally speaking, most people can be trusted.

(b) During the Covid-19 pandemic in [COUNTRY], it was more important to fight the pandemic than to uphold all citizens' rights (like the right to free movement).

(c) I see myself as someone who has lost more than gained through globalization.

(d) The government is pretty much run by a few big interests looking out for themselves.

(e) Government officials use their power to try to improve people's lives.

(1) "1 – Fully disagree"

...

(6) "6 – Fully agree"

(98) "I prefer not to say."

(99) "Don't know"

Notes: Items "d" and "e" were always presented following each other.

D04 | Deprivation

There is often a discussion about whether different groups in [COUNTRY] nowadays actually have or get what they deserve. Some people even become angry when they think about this issue, because they think they are treated unfairly.

To what extent do you agree or disagree to each of the following statements?

(a) It makes me angry that nowadays people like me do not have as much influence on what the government does as we should.

(b) It makes me angry that nowadays people like me do not earn or own as much as we deserve.

(c) It makes me angry that nowadays people like me do not get to live in line with our traditions and customs as much as we should.

(1) "1 - Fully disagree"

...

(6) "6 – Fully agree"

(98) "I prefer not to say."

(99) "Don't know"

D05 | Subjective identity

People have different views about themselves and how they relate to the world. How close do you feel to...

(a) ...the village, town or city you live in?

(b) ... [COUNTRY]

(c) ... [REGION]

(1) "1 - Not close at all."

...

(6) "6 - Very close."

(98) "I prefer not to say."

(99) "Don't know"

Notes: The country-specific region refers to the supranational subregions of the UN geoscheme.

D06 | Postmaterialism

There are different opinions about what society's goals should be for the next ten years. Below are listed some of the goals which different people would give top priority. Please, pick the two that are most important to you.

(a) Maintaining order in the nation.

(b) Giving people more say in important government decision.

(c) Fighting rising prices.

(d) Protecting freedom of speech.

(0) Not selected

(1) Selected

(REF) "I prefer not to say."

(DK) "Don't know"

Notes: Respondents were able to select up to two answers.

D07 | Right-Wing Authoritarianism

There are different opinions on how society should be organized and how people should act. To what extent do you agree or disagree to each of the following statements?

(a) It's great that many young people today are prepared to defy authority.

(b) What our country needs most is discipline, with everyone following our leaders in unity.

(c) The "old-fashioned ways" and "old-fashioned values" still show the best way to live.

(d) There is nothing wrong with premarital sexual intercourse.

(e) Our society does not need tougher government and stricter laws.

(f) The facts on crime and the recent public disorders show we have to crack down harder on troublemakers, if we are going to preserve law and order.

(1) "1 – Fully disagree"		
(6) "6 – Fully agree"		
(98) "I prefer not to say."		
(99) "Don't know"		

D08 | Globalization

There are different opinions about various important issues that affect [COUNTRY]. How much do you agree or disagree to the following statements?

(a) [COUNTRY] should limit the import of foreign products in order to protect its national economy.

(b) International organizations are taking away too much power from the [COUNTRY NATIONALITY] government.

(c) Immigrants endanger the [COUNTRY NATIONALITY] society by bringing new ideas and cultures.

(1) "1 - Fully disagree"

...

(6) "6 – Fully agree"

(98) "I prefer not to say."

(99) "Don't know"

D09 | Freedom vs. Security Trade-offs

Now, we present you some scenarios how your government might want to deal with different threats and also what experts think about these rules and laws. Please, tell us for each instance whether you consider the government's measures as acceptable or not.

D09_a | Anti-terror measure: Acceptance

The government wants to protect the population of [COUNTRY] against future terrorist attacks. To do this, it plans to [LEVEL 1 or 2 from DIMENSION GOVERNEMENT]. Experts argue that this measure would [LEVEL 1 or 2 from DIMENSION EX-PERTS] decrease the threat of future terror attacks.

	Level 1	Level 2
Treatment dimension GOVERNMENT	increase monitoring of public places with cameras	monitor the telephone calls and Internet activities of everyone without judicial warrant
Treatment dimension EXPERTS	slightly	strongly

Would you consider the government's measure as acceptable or not?

(1) "1 – Not acceptable at all"	
(6) "6 – Fully acceptable"	
(98) "I prefer not to say."	
(99) "Don't know"	

Notes: Random selection of levels within the two dimensions.

D09_b | Health data collection: Acceptance

The government wants to protect the population of [COUNTRY] against an increasing number of deaths from cancer. To do this, it plans to [LEVEL 1 or 2 from DIMENSION GOVERNEMENT]. Experts argue that this measure would [LEVEL 1 or 2 from DIMENSION EXPERTS] decrease the threat of an increasing number of deaths from cancer.

	Level 1	Level 2
Treatment dimension GOVERNMENT	collect more data to better understand the course of disease of cancer patients	monitor the medical records of everyone
Treatment dimension EXPERTS	slightly	strongly

Would you consider the government's measure as acceptable or not?

(1) "1 – Not acceptable at all"

•••

(6) "6 - Fully acceptable"

(98) "I prefer not to say."

(99) "Don't know"

Notes: Random selection of levels within the two dimensions.

D09_c | Tax fraud/corruption prevention: Acceptance

The government wants to protect the population of [COUNTRY] against tax fraud and corruption. To do this, it plans to [LEVEL 1 or 2 from DIMENSION GOVERNEMENT]. Experts argue that this measure would [LEVEL 1 or 2 from DIMENSION EXPERTS] decrease the threat of tax fraud and corruption.

	Level 1	Level 2
Treatment dimension GOVERNMENT	increase penalties for not reporting all income and earnings to the authorities	monitor the bank account activities of everyone
Treatment dimension EXPERTS	slightly	strongly

Would you consider the government's measure as acceptable or not?

(1) "1 – Not acceptable at all"		
(6) "6 – Fully acceptable"		
(98) "I prefer not to say."		
(99) "Don't know"		

Notes: Random selection of levels within the two dimensions.

MODULE E: VOTING BEHAVIOR

V1 | Electoral participation (last election)

Did you vote in the last [NATIONALITY] parliamentary election that took place in [MONTH-YEAR OF ELECTION]?

(1) "Yes"	
(2) "No"	
(3) "I was not eligible to vote."	
(98) "I prefer not to say."	
(99) "Don't know"	
V2 Vote choice (last election)	
For which party or which party's candidate did you vote?	
(1) "Party A"	
(2) "Party B"	
(3) "Party C"	
(3) "Party C" 	
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
 (96) Other (specify)	

country-specific lists of relevant parties.

V3 | Vote intention

If there were a general election held tomorrow, for which party would you be most likely to vote?

(1) "Party A"	
(2) "Party B"	
(3) "Party C"	
(94) "I am still undecided."	
(95) Other (specify)	
(96) "I will vote blank/null."	
(97) "I would not vote."	
(98) "I prefer not to say."	
(99) "Don't know"	

Notes: Answer categories were based on country-specific lists of relevant parties.

MODULE F: SOCIODEMOGRAPHIC QUESTIONS

F01 | Gender Do you identify as... (1) "...male?" (2) "...female?" (3) "...other?"

F02 | Year of birth

When were you born? Please give us your birth year.

YYYY

F03 | Education

What is the highest educational level that you have attained? If you have attained your highest educational degree outside [COUNTRY], please select the educational level that comes closest to the highest educational level that you have attained elsewhere.

(1) "Less than lower secondary education (including no formal education, early childhood education, primary education) (ISCED 0-1)"

(2) "Lower secondary education (ISCED 2)"

(3) "Upper secondary education (ISCED 3)"

(4) "Post-secondary non-tertiary education (ISCED 4)"

(5) "Lower tertiary education, BA level (including short-cycle tertiary education) (ISCED 5-6)"

(6) "Higher tertiary education, MA level or higher (ISCED 7-8)"

(7) "Still in education, without prior degree"

(97) "Other"

(98) "I prefer not to say."

(99) "Don't know"

Notes: Answer categories were based on country-specific lists of educational degrees.

F04 | Years of schooling

How many years have you been in formal education?

Include all years in school, university, and formal vocational education and training measures. Please do not include nursery school, pre-school, kindergarten and similar. Please do also not include repeated years.

If you're currently in education, count the number of years you have completed so far.

Number of years

(98) "I prefer not to say."

F05 | Employment status

Now, we want to learn a bit more about your personal situation.

Which of the following describes your current situation? If more than one description applies, pick the category which describes your current situation best.

(1) "Paid employment full time (30 hours a week or more)"

(2) "Paid employment part time (less than 30 hours a week)"

(3) "Self-employed"

(4) "Retired/pensioned"

(5) "Doing housework/unpaid care work/helping family member/working to produce food for my family"

(6) "In education (in school or university, not paid for by employer)"

(7) "Unemployed"

(8) "Permanently sick or disabled"

(97) "Other"

(98) "I prefer not to say."

(99) "Don't know"

F06 | Retired: Prior employment status

Which of the following best describes the situation prior to your retirement?

(1) "Paid employment full time (30 hours a week or more)"

(2) "Paid employment part time (less than 30 hours a week)"

(3) "Self-employed"

(5) "Doing housework/unpaid care work/helping family member/working to produce food for my family"

(7) "Unemployed"

(97) "Other"

(98) "I prefer not to say."

(99) "Don't know"

Notes: The item was only presented to respondents who answered (4) "Retired/pensioned" on F05.

F07 | Housework: Prior employment status

Prior to your current situation, what best describes your situation back then?

(5) "I have always been doing housework/unpaid care work/helping family member/working to produce food for my family."

(1) "Paid employment full time (30 hours a week or more)"

(2) "Paid employment part time (less than 30 hours a week)"

(3) "Self-employed"

(6) "In education (in school or university, not paid for by employer)"

(7) "Unemployed"

(97) "Other"

(98) "I prefer not to say."

(99) "Don't know"

Notes: The item was only presented to respondents who answered (5) "Doing housework/unpaid care work/helping family member/working to produce food for my family" on F05.

F08 | In education: Prior employment status

Prior to your current situation, what best describes your situation back then?

(6) "I have always been in education (in school or university, not paid for by employer)."

(1) "Paid employment full time (30 hours a week or more)"

(2) "Paid employment part time (less than 30 hours a week)"

(3) "Self-employed"

(5) "Doing housework/unpaid care work/helping family member/working to produce food for my family"

(7) "Unemployed"

(97) "Other"

(98) "I prefer not to say."

(99) "Don't know"

Notes: The item was only presented to respondents who answered (6) "In education (in school or university, not paid for by employer)" on F05.

F09 | Unemployed: Prior employment status

Prior to your current situation, what best describes your situation back then?

- (1) "Paid employment full time (30 hours a week or more)"
- (2) "Paid employment part time (less than 30 hours a week)"
- (3) "Self-employed"

(5) "Doing housework/unpaid care work/helping family member/working to produce food for my family"

(6) "In education (in school or university, not paid for by employer)"

(97) "Other"

(98) "I prefer not to say."

(99) "Don't know"

Notes: The item was only presented to respondents who answered (7) "Unemployed" on F05.

F10 | Permanently sick or disabled: Prior employment status

Prior to your current situation, what best describes your situation back then?

(8) "I have always been permanently sick or disabled."

(1) "Paid employment full time (30 hours a week or more)"

(2) "Paid employment part time (less than 30 hours a week)"

(3) "Self-employed"

(5) "Doing housework/unpaid care work/helping family member/working to produce food for my family"

(6) "In education (in school or university, not paid for by employer)"

(7) "Unemployed"

(97) "Other"

(98) "I prefer not to say."

(99) "Don't know"

Notes: The item was only presented to respondents who answered (8) "Permanently sick or disabled" on F05.

F11 | Internet usage

How often do you use the Internet for private purposes? This is regardless of whether you access the Internet on a smartphone, tablet or a computer and also whether you own the device or not.

(1) "Never"	
(2) "Less than monthly"	
(3) "Monthly"	
(4) "Weekly"	
(5) "Daily"	
(6) "I am more or less always online."	
(98) "I prefer not to say."	
(99) "Don't know"	
F12 Citizenship: Surveyed country, at birth	
What was your citizenship at birth?	
(1) "[COUNTRY NATIONALITY]"	

(2) "[COUNTRY NATIONALITY] and other nationality"

(3) "Other nationality"

(98) "I prefer not to say."

(99) "Don't know"

F13 | Citizenship: Which other country, at birth

Please tell us your citizenship at birth.

Drop-down list of all countries

(98) "I prefer not to say."

(99) "Don't know"

Notes: The item was only presented to respondents who answered (3) "Other nationality" on F12.

F14 | Citizenship: Surveyed country, today

Today, do you hold the [COUNTRY NATIONALITY] citizenship?	
(1) "Yes"	
(0) "No"	
(98) "I prefer not to say."	
(99) "Don't know"	

Notes: The item was only presented to respondents who answered (3) "Other nationality" on F12.

F15 | Country of birth: Surveyed country

In which country were you born?

Please base your answer on today's country borders and where your birthplace is located today.

(1) "[COUNTRY]"

(2) "Other"

(98) "I prefer not to say."

(99) "Don't know"

F16 | Country of birth: Which other country

Please tell us in which country you were born.

Please base your answer on today's country borders and where your birthplace is located today

Drop down list of all countries

(98) "I prefer not to say."

(99) "Don't know"

Notes: The item was only presented to respondents who answered (2) "Other" on F15.

F17 | Country of birth: Parents

In which country were your parents born?

Please base your answer on today's country borders and where their birthplace is located today.

(1) "Both parents were born in [COUNTRY]."

(2) "One parent was born in [COUNTRY]."

(3) "Both of my parents were born outside of [COUNTRY]."

(98) "I prefer not to say."

(99) "Don't know"

F18 | Religious denomination

Do you belong to a religion or religious denomination? If yes, which one?

(0) "No"	
(1) "Religion A"	
(2) "Religion B"	
(3) "Religion C"	
(97) "Other"	
(98) "I prefer not to say."	
(99) "Don't know"	

Notes: Answer categories were based on country-specific lists of relevant denominations.

F19 | Religious practices

Apart from weddings and funerals, about how often do you attend religious services these days?

(1) "Never"
(2) "Once a year"
(3) "Several times a year"
(4) "Once a month"
(5) "2 or 3 times a month"
(6) "Once a week"
(7) "Several times a week or more often"
(98) "I prefer not to say."
(99) "Don't know"
F20 Residential environment
Would you say you live in a
(1) "rural area or village?"
(2) "small or middle size town?"
(3) "large town or city?"
F21 Region of living
In which of the following regions do you currently live?

National lists

Notes: Answer categories were based on country-speific lists of subnational regions.

F22 | Household size

How many people - including yourself and children - live regularly in your household?

Number of people

(98) "I prefer not to say."

(99) "Don't know"

F23 | Household size: Persons <15 years

How many of those people living regularly in your household are 14 years old or younger?

Number of people

(98) "I prefer not to say."

(99) "Don't know"

Notes: The item was only presented to respondents who answered >1 on F22.

F24 | Children (yes/no)

Do you have one or more children? This is regardless of their current age or whether they live in your household or not.

(0) "No"

(1) "Yes"

(98) "I prefer not to say."

(99) "Don't know"

F25 | Ownership

Do you or your household own the following?

(a) Television

(b) Computer, tablet or smartphone

(c) House or flat

(d) Livestock

(e) Savings higher than [50% of mean national yearly income]

(f) Shares, bonds or similar

(0) Not selected

(1) Selected

(none) "None of the above"

(REF) "I prefer not to say."

(DK) "Don't know"

Notes: Respondents could select as many as applicable.

F26 | Household income

Considering everyone living regularly in your household, what is your household's total monthly income, after tax and compulsory deductions, from all sources (including wages, profits, investments, social benefits)?

If you don't know the exact figure, please give an estimate. If you are living on your own, this refers just to you.

(1) Less than [40% of mean national income]
(2) [40%-60% of mean national income]
(3) [60%-80% of mean national income]
(4) [80%-100% of mean national income]
(5) [100%-150% of mean national income]
(6) [150%-200% of mean national income]
(7) [200%-250% of mean national income]
(8) [250%-350% of mean national income]
(9) More than [350% of the mean national income]
(98) "I prefer not to say."
(99) "Don't know"

Notes: Answer categories were based on national income figures.

APPENDIX II: COUNTRY SELECTION

Using tools from fractional factorial designs, we could generate 13 strata, which represents an efficient design. This means that the grey-shaded combinations are not needed. We then purposively selected at least one country within each of these strata based on feasibility and geopolitical relevance of the countries.

AFRICA

		Political Dimension	
		more autocratic	more democratic
ic Dimension	bad conditions		Nigeria, Senegal
Socio-economic Dimension	good conditions	Morocco*	South Africa, Ghana, <i>Tunisia</i> *

* Originally, Morocco was among the 26 selected countries. However, during the fieldwork phase, the Moroccan government withdrew the official permission to conduct the survey in the country. It was not feasible to conduct fieldwork in any other country of the same stratum as Morocco nor of the grey-shaded stratrum in Africa. As a result, Tunisia was added to the country set as a substitute for Morocco even though this results in no longer fulfilling the efficient design.

AMERICAS

		Political Dimension	
		more autocratic	more democratic
ic Dimension	bad conditions	Brazil	Mexico, Peru
Socio-economic Dimension	good conditions		USA, Chile

ASIA

		Political Dimension	
		more autocratic	more democratic
ic Dimension	bad conditions		India, Indonesia
Socio-economic	good conditions	Singapore, Turkey	Australia, Japan, South Korea

EUROPE

		Political Dimension	
		more autocratic	more democratic
c Dimension	bad conditions	Russia	Italy, Latvia
Socio-economic	good conditions	Poland	France, Germany, Spain, Sweden, UK

SCRIPTS WORKING PAPER SERIES

No. 1 2020 Tanja A. Börzel and Michael Zürn Contestations of the Liberal Script. A Research Program

No. 2 2020 Hans-Jürgen Puhle

Populism and Democracy in the 21st Century

No. 3 2020 Tanja A. Börzel and Michael Zürn Contestations of the Liberal International Order. From Liberal Multilateralism to Postnational Liberalism

No. 4 2020 Daniel Drewski and Jürgen Gerhards

The Liberal Border Script and Its Contestations. An Attempt of Definition and Systematization

No. 5 2020 Tanja A. Börzel

Contesting the EU Refugee Regime

No. 6 2021 Claudia Rauhut

Slavery, Liberal Thought, and Reparations. Contesting the Compensation of Slave Owners in the Caribbean

No. 7 2021 Camilla Reuterswärd

Organized Religion and Contestations of the Liberal Script. The Catholic Church, Body Politics, and Anti-Gender Mobilizations

No. 8 2021 Tully Rector Corporate Power. A Problem for Liberal Legitimacy

No. 9 2022 Ankur Yadav

A Contestation of the Western Liberal Script in India. The Rise of Cultural Nationalism

No. 10 2021 Michael Zürn and Johannes Gerschewski Sketching the Liberal Script. A Target of Contestations

No. 11 2021 Jared Holley Recovering the Anticolonial Roots of Solidarity

No. 12 2021 Bastian A. Betthäuser, Nhat An Trinh, and Anette Eva Fasang

The Temporal Dimension of Parental Employment. Fixed-Term Contracts, Non-Standard Work Schedules, and Children's Education in Germany

No. 13 2021 Kevin Axe, Tobias Rupprecht, and Alice Trinkle

Peripheral Liberalism. New Perspectives on the History of the Liberal Script in the (Post-)Socialist World

No. 142021Cristóbal Rovira Kaltwasser,Carsten Wegscheider, and Steven M. Van Hauwaert

Supporting and Rejecting Populist Parties in Western Europe

No. 15 2022 Rona Geffen

The Timing of Lives: The Role of Standard Employment in Income Mobility and Co-residential Unions in Early Adulthood

No. 16 2022 Jan-Werner Müller

Liberal Democracy's Critical Infrastructure. How to Think about Intermediary Powers

No. 17 2022 Johannes Petry

Global Financial Reallocation towards China: Implications for the Liberal Financial Script

No. 18 2022 Jan-Werner Müller

Still the "Fourth Power"? Rethinking the Press in Liberal Democracies

No. 19 2022 Albert Cullell Cano

The Chinese Peacebuilding Script: A Pragmatic Contestation of the Liberal International Order

No. 20 2022 Silviya Lechner

The Responsibility of Global Governance Institutions: Towards a Kantian Conception of the Current Liberal Order

No. 21 2022 Sébastien Tremblay

Homosynchronism and the Temporal-Memory Border: Framing Racialized Bodies, Time, and Mobility in German Queer Printed Media

No. 22 2022 Jürgen Gerhards, Lukas Antoine, and Rasmus Ollroge

The Liberal Script on Military Humanitarian Intervention and How Citizens around the World Support It. Results from a Comparative Survey in 24 Countries

No. 23 2023 Anne Menzel

Situating Liberal Rationality. Unacknowledged Commitments in Progressive Knowledge Production and Policymaking

No. 24 2023 Georg Simmerl

Liberalism and Critique. Why it Is Unviable to Analytically Position a Liberal Script in Opposition to its Contestations

No. 25 2023 Bastiaan Bouwman

Postwar Displacement, Liberalism, and the Genesis of the International Refugee Regime

No. 26 2023 Tanja A. Börzel and Thomas Risse

The Liberal Script between Individual and Collective Self-Determination

No. 272023Agnes Blome and Miriam HartlappContesting Unequal Group Representation. Can Deliberative

Participatory Fora Cure Representation Gaps in the Legislature

No. 28 2023 Jürgen Gerhards, Lukas Antoine, and Rasmus Ollroge

The Liberal Script on State Sovereignty and the Admission of Immigrants. Do Citizens Distinguish between Voluntary and Forced Immigrants?

No. 29 2023 Jessica Kim, Yasemin Nuhoglu Soysal, Hector Cebolla Boado, and Laura Schimmöller

Inhibiting or Contributing? How Global Liberal Forces Impact Climate Change Scepticism

No. 30 2023 Daniel Wajner

Delegitimizing International Institutions. How Global Populism Challenges the Liberal International Order

No. 31 2023 Steven Livingston

The Nature of Beliefs. An Exploration of Cognitive Science and Sociological Approaches to the Crisis of Democracy

No. 32 2023 Jiwei Ci

States, Scripts, and Democratisation



All SCRIPTS Working Papers are available on the SCRIPTS website at www.scripts-berlin.eu and can be ordered in print via email to office@scripts-berlin.eu



Hosted by: Freie Universität Berlin **Berlin University** Alliance In Cooperation with: ORWNH. ZΒ **Hertie School** al Science Center ΜO GIGA German Institute of Global and Area Studie ZOIS Centrum für Osteuropa-und internationale Studien Centre for fast European and International Studies **DIW** BERLIN LEIBNIZ ZENTRUM MODERNER ORIENT Ζ

The Cluster of Excellence "Contestations of the Liberal Script (SCRIPTS)" is funded by:

